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A B S T R A C T   

This study aimed to analyse how socio-environmental conditions affected the early evolution of 
COVID-19 in 14 urban sites in South America based on a spatio-temporal multidisciplinary 
approach. The daily incidence rate of new COVID-19 cases with symptoms as the dependent 
variable and meteorological-climatic data (mean, maximum, and minimum temperature, pre
cipitation, and relative humidity) as the independent variables were analysed. The study period 
was from March to November of 2020. We inquired associations of these variables with COVID-19 
data using Spearman’s non-parametric correlation test, and a principal component analysis 
considering socio economic and demographic variables, new cases, and rates of COVID-19 new 
cases. Finally, an analysis using non-metric multidimensional scale ordering by the Bray-Curtis 
similarity matrix of meteorological data, socio economic and demographic variables, and 
COVID-19 was performed. Our findings revealed that the average, maximum, and minimum 
temperatures and relative humidity were significantly associated with rates of COVID-19 new 
cases in most of the sites, while precipitation was significantly associated only in four sites. 
Additionally, demographic variables such as the number of inhabitants, the percentage of the 
population aged 60 years and above, the masculinity index, and the GINI index showed a sig
nificant correlation with COVID-19 cases. Due to the rapid evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
these findings provide strong evidence that biomedical, social, and physical sciences should join 
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forces in truly multidisciplinary research that is critically needed in the current state of our 
region.   

1. Introduction 

In the twenty-first century, we have been dealing with the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus 
[1–3]. Because of globalization and anthropogenic activities [4–6], natural alterations or changes in SARS-CoV-2 have created sig
nificant risks to human health over time [7–9]. By November 2020, more than 62 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 had been 
reported, with approximately 1.5 million human deaths [10]. Pan American Health Organization reported more than 26 million 
confirmed cases and accounted for half of the deaths worldwide in America [11]. 

The interaction between host and pathogen can be significantly affected by environmental conditions, either directly, such as by 
improving transmission rates of the pathogen, or indirectly, by affecting the susceptibility of the host to pathogenic attacks [12]. 
Climate conditions can influence the trajectory of the pandemic, and the seasonal progression of the disease will lead to different 
implications across the globe, varying by hemisphere, region, and climatic zone [13,14]. 

Different pathologies, especially respiratory system diseases, are significantly associated with certain unfavourable climatic con
ditions that predisposes people to develop those diseases [15–17]. In the case of COVID-19, climate conditions as top predictors of 
other coronavirus illnesses [18,19] as wind speed, humidity [20,21], average air temperature, and vapour pressure, which are 
measures of absolute humidity, are critical in the transmission of infectious diseases [22,23]. Previous studies have shown that survival 
is generally higher at low temperatures and low absolute humidity values in the case of coronavirus and influenza viruses [20,24]. For 
each country/region and specific climatic differences between regions, the effect of UV light on the survival of the virus on surfaces, or 
higher temperatures have a significant impact on the current spread of the SARS-CoV2 virus [25]. Other authors have reported that in 
similar viral diseases (such as pneumonia), mortality rates are highly correlated with weather changes [26]. There is also a high 
correlation between climate indicators and the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic in North America [27]. In the case of Latin América 
and the Caribbean region, Bolaño-Ortiz et al. (2020) [15] studied the relationship during two months in austral fall 2020 and 
concluded that average and minimum temperature and air quality were significantly associated with the spread of COVID-19 in ten 

Fig. 1. Climatic characterization and sites of study in South America. Colour scale according the climate category. Adapted from Beck [4]. (For 
interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.) 
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cities of the region. Humidity, wind speed, and rainfall also showed a significant relationship with morbimortality for various cities. 
In addition to effects of climatic variables on respiratory diseases, it is well documented that socioeconomic and demographic 

conditions are another group of influencing factors. Studies conducted in different regions of the world (United Kingdom, Europe, 
China, North America) have shown effects of socio-economic conditions on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic [28–30]. Variables 
that have demonstrated correlation to the spread of COVID 19 have been population density, employment rate, and poverty rate, 
among others [31]. Studies analysing the association between socioeconomic conditions and the pattern of the pandemic in the South 
American region are still lacking. 

Some demographic aspects could have a significant influence in the high number of cases [32,33] and deaths during the pandemic 
worldwide [34,35]. In fact, South America may be one of the regions most affected by this public health crisis [36–39] because it has 
notorious resource limitations in their health systems. Therefore, this study aims to provide strong evidence that spatio-temporal 
multidisciplinary analysis of socio-environmental conditions can be used to demonstrate the early evolution of COVID-19 in urban 
sites in South America. 

2. Materials and methods 

2.1. Study areas in South America 

The study considered 14 urban sites (Fig. 1) with heterogeneous population distribution and dissimilar climatic, geographical, 
socioeconomic and demographic conditions from Colombia (CO), Chile (CH), and Argentina (AR) (Table Supp 1). Five representative 
sites were chosen in Colombia, from north to south: Barranquilla, Medellín, Bogotá, Cali, and Leticia. In Chile, four sites were analysed: 
Arica y Parinacota, Centre Metropolitana, Biobío, and South Magallanes. In Argentina, five sites were analysed: Tucumán, Resistencia, 
Rosario, the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires (Buenos Aires), and the southernmost city of South America, Ushuaia. 

2.2. Meteorological, Socioeconomic and demographic data set 

We employed public data set of different state organism (Table 1). Data of COVID-19 cases from each urban site obtained from daily 
reports by the Ministry of Health (National Directorate of Epidemiology and Strategic Health Information of the Ministry of Health) of 
Argentina, the Ministry of Health of Chile, and the Ministry of Sciences and the database of the Integrated Social Protection Infor
mation System of the Ministry of Health and Social Protection of Colombia. The period considered was March 2020 to November 2020. 
Additionally, we used daily national meteorological data: maximum, mean, and minimum temperature (Tmax, Tmean and Tmin), pre
cipitation (Pp), and relative humidity (Hr), obtained from National Meteorological Service (Argentina), Meteorological Directorate 
(Chile), and Institute of Hydrology, Meteorology, and Environmental Studies (Colombia), through the network of manual (AR) and 
automatic (CH and CO) weather stations placed across the cities of study. Annual socio-economic and demographic data were obtained 
from National Institute of Statistics and Census (Argentina), National Statistics Institute, Ministry of Social Development, National 
Socioeconomic Characterization Survey (Chile) and National Administrative Department for Statistics, National Population and 

Table 1 
Summary of data set access used to this study from March 2020 to November 2020. COVID-19 (New cases with symptoms (NCS) and rate of new cases 
with symptoms (rNCs) by day and per 100.000 inhab.). Meteorological data. Relative humidity (Hr. %). Precipitation (Pp. mm); and maximum. Mean 
and minimum temperature (Tmax. Tmean and Tmin. ◦C) to each site sampled.  

Variables Group Variable Order Metadata access of each Country link acces 

COVID-Cases  • New cases with symptoms (NCS)  
• Rate of new cases with symptoms by 

day and per 100.000 inhab (rNCS)  
• 7 and 14-day moving averages 

(7rNCSma and 14rNCSma)  
• 7- and 14-day lags of the rNCS 

(7rNCSL and 14rNCSL) 

Ministry of Health (AR) https://www.datos.salud.gob.ar/ 
dataset?groups=covid-19 

Ministry of Health (CH) https://www.minsal.cl/nuevo- 
coronavirus-2019-ncov/ 

Ministry of Health and Social Protection (CO) https://www.ins.gov.co/ 
Noticias/paginas/coronavirus. 
aspx 

Socio-demographic 
Data Set 

Population index  
• nº inhabitants (x 103 inhab)  
• Density (δ. inhab km-2)  
• Population over 60 years (%) 
Socio-economic index  
• Monetary Poverty (%)  
• Masculinity Index (%)  
• GINI 

National Institute of Statistics and Census (AR) https://www.indec.gob.ar/ 
National Statistics Institute (CH) https://www.ine.gob.cl/ 
National Administrative Department for Statistics. 
National Population and Housing Census (CO) 

https://www.dane.gov.co/ 

Meteorological 
Deata Ser 

• Relative humidity (Hr. %)  
• Precipitation (Pp. mm)  
• Temperature mean (Tmean. ◦C)  
• Temperature maximum (Tmax. ◦C)  
• Temperature minimum(Tmin. ◦C) 

National Meteorological Service (AR) https://www.smn.gob.ar/ 
Meteorological Directorate (CH) https://www.meteochile.cl/ 

PortalDMC-web/index.xhtml 
Institute of Hydrology. Meteorology. And 
Environmental Studies (CO) 

https://www.ideam.gov.co/  
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Housing Census (Colombia). 

2.3. Statistical data analyses 

Exploratory analysis was carried out to finalize the possible associations with the COVID-19 data new daily cases with symptoms 
(NCS) and rate of new daily cases with symptoms (rNCS) using Spearman’s non-parametric correlation test. Subsequently, principal 
component analysis (PCA) was used to reduce the dimensionality [40] and establish an association between them [31]. This technique 
was used as it is a particularly useful multivariate statistical method in reducing a large group of variables to a smaller group of latent 
underlying factors that explain most of the observed variability. A second analysis was performed using non-metric multidimensional 
scaling ordination (nMDS) using the Bray-Curtis matrix of similarity cluster analyses to identify common socio-economic and envi
ronmental attributes among different sites, using vegan [41] and Nbclust [42] packages respectively, were performed in RStudio 
software Version 1.4.1717. (https://rstudio.com/). Since data on new cases with symptoms were available from the date of confir
mation, we decided to use the rate of new cases with symptoms with a 7-day lag for a comparative study (Table Supp 2). 

Subsequently, for each site, the daily incidence rNCS was analysed per 1 × 105 inhabitants (inhab.) by the date of symptom onset 
(Argentina and Colombia) and by date of confirmation (Chile). Seven- and 14-day moving averages (7rNCSma and 14rNCSma) were 
applied to smooth the dummy wave generated by data loading. In addition, the 7- and 14-day lags of the rNCS with a 7-days moving 
average (7rNCSL and 14rNCSL) were calculated considering the incubation period of the disease. Likewise, a description was made of 
the statistical distribution of variables studied, dependent rNCS, and independent (meteorological-climatic data). The coefficient of 
variation was calculated according to equation I (Eq. (1)) and was percentually expressed as: 

CVn = Stdn Xn ∗ 100 (1)  

where Std is the standard deviation, and X is the mean of each sample (n) by site. 
Finally, the statistical distribution of the data was analysed using the Shapiro-Wilk test [43,44], and it was observed that variables 

did not maintain a normal distribution. Therefore, Spearman’s linear correlation [44] was used to study the relationship between rNCS 
and different climatic variables. From this, the ‘rho = ρ’ coefficient was obtained with confidence levels of 95% and 99%. All cal
culations were performed using RStudio software Version 1.4.1717. (https://rstudio.com/). 

3. Results 

3.1. Climatic variability characterization by site 

In Argentina, most sites have a humid subtropical climate (Table 2, climate code: Cfa), which is characterised by relatively high 
temperatures and evenly distributed precipitation throughout the year, with the exception of Ushuaia, which has a Tundra Climate 
(Table 2, climate code: AT). This climate is characterised by sub-freezing mean annual temperatures, large annual temperature ranges, 
and moderately low precipitation [45]. The temperature drops between March and June and rises between June and October. 
Accumulated Pp is the highest in the north of the country, with maximum monthly values in Tucumán (approximately 240 mm) and 
Resistencia (approximately 200 mm) during 1981–2010, decreasing towards the west, centre, and south of the country where it is 
scarce. In the northern and central regions (Tucumán, Resistencia, Rosario, and Buenos Aires), the annual wave of monthly Pp is 
minimal in the winter (June to August). The opposite occurs in Patagonia, with a maximum around 55 mm in winter (as is the case of 
Ushuaia) (https://www.smn.gob.ar/clima/vigilancia). In general, Pp was higher in the northern and central regions than in southern 

Table 2 
Geographical position. Altitude. And climate codes [45] from study sites in South America. Cfa. temperate. no dry season. warm summer; ET. polar. 
tundra; Bwh. Arid. desert. hot; Csb. temperate. dry summer. warm summer; Aw. tropical. savannah; Af. tropical. Rainforest; Cfb. temperate. no dry 
season. warm summer.  

Sites Latitude Longitude Altitude (msal) Climate Code 

Tucuman (Ar) 26◦49′26.9′′ S 65◦13.356′ W 431 Cfa 
Resistencia (Ar) 27◦27′38′′ S 58◦59.033′ W 50 Cfa 
Rosario (Ar) 32◦56′48.6′′ S 60◦38.359′ W 31 Cfa 
Buenos Aires (Ar) 34◦36′47.3′′ S 58◦22.634′ W 25 Cfa 
Ushuaia (Ar) 54◦48′39′′ S 68◦18.955′ W 200 ET      

Arica y Parinacota (Ch) 18◦28′30′′S 70◦18′52′′ W 40 BWh 
Metropolitana (Ch) 33◦26′16′′S 70◦39′01′′W 544 Csb 
Biobío (Ch) 36◦46′22′′S 73◦03′47′′W 119 Csb 
Magallanes (Ch) 53◦09′45′′S 70◦55′21′′W 214 ET      

Barranquilla (Co) 10◦ 59′ 16′′ N 74◦ 47′ 20′′ W 18 Aw 
Medellín (Co) 6◦ 13′ 1′′ N 75◦ 34′ 1′′ W 1495 Af 
Bogotá (Co) 4◦ 35′56′′ N 74◦04′51′′ W 2630 Cfb 
Cali (Co) 3◦ 26′ 14′′ N 76◦ 31′ 21′′ W 1018 Af 
Leticia (Co) 4◦ 12′ 29′′ S 69◦ 56′ 36′′ W 80 Af  
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Patagonia. The temperature followed the same pattern as Pp (Table 3, Fig. 1). 
Colombia is one of the countries with the greatest rainfall diversity in the world (Fig. 1). Medellin, Cali, and Leticia have a tropical 

rainforest climate (Table 2, climate code: Af) with no dry season, and all months have a Pp of at least 60 mm. Regions with this climate 
are typically hot and wet throughout the year with both heavy and frequent rainfall. On the other hand, Barranquilla has a tropical 
savanna climate (Table 2, climate code: Aw) with a Tmean > 18 ◦C and Pp < 60 mm monthly average. This climate experiences either 
less rainfall than a tropical monsoon climate or more pronounced dry seasons. Bogotá is characterised by an equable climate with few 
extremes of temperature and ample precipitation in all months, which is a typical marine west coast climate (Table 2, climate code: 
Cfb) [45]. 

Historically, the sites Barranquilla, Medellín, Bogotá, and Cali presented a Pp behaviour characterised by a seasonal cycle of two 
periods of little rain (dry periods) and two rainy periods. This varied according to the latitude and its orographic conditions, which 
were observed in the duration of each season and in the value of Pp. The temporal distribution of Pp was characterised by a cycle of a 
dry period (May–October) and a rainy period (November–April). The rainiest city was Leticia, with an annual accumulated value of 
>3300 mm year-1, located to the south of the equator [46]. The site with the highest variability in Tmax, Tmean, and Tmin was found in 
Barranquilla (Table 3, Fig. 2a). Bogotá showed the lowest temperature value (Table 3, Fig. 2a). 

The Hr was 55%–89% on average for all the test regions. In the north sampling area, Hr had two periods of high and low values 
equal to the Pp according to the ITCZ (Fig. 2b). In Bogotá, the Hr was 77%–83%, being higher in the months of April and November and 
lower in July and August. In Medellin, Hr was 63%–73% and higher at the time of the 2nd semester, but lower than that at other sites 
(Table 3. Fig. 2b). The Hr in Cali was <70% in dry periods and 75%–76% in rainy periods. In Leticia, Hr (84%–88%) was high during 
the 1st semester and relatively low in August and September. The proximity to the sea and the location on the banks of the Magdalena 
River mean that Barranquilla had a high Hr. However, this Hr was modified by drying winds that pushed it toward the interior of the 
region to produce abundant rains in the foothills of the Andes. In Barranquilla, the highest levels of Hr (about 84%) were registered in 
October, with the minimum levels in February and March (77%) (Table 3, Fig. 2b). 

The north of Chile is arid because of the Atacama Desert, while that of southern Chile is temperate, ranging from the Mediterranean 
to the marine west coast [47] (Fig. 1). In Arica y Parinacota, tropical and subtropical desert climates (Table 2, climate code: BWh) were 
dominant in all months. This was because the subtropical anticyclone, or subtropical high, had winds blow parallel to the coast so that 
moisture-laden maritime air could penetrate over land only infrequently and inhibit precipitation. Metropolitana and Biobío sites had 
a typical Mediterranean climate (Table 2, climate code: Csb) with very dry and warm summers. Summers had one-third the Pp of the 
wettest winter month, and with Pp < 30 mm in a summer month (Fig. 2a–b). The Magallanes site was similar to Ushuaia (Table 2, 

Table 3 
Mean ± standard deviation and coefficient variation [cv] of COVID-19 new daily cases with symptoms (NCS) and rate of new cases with symptoms 
(rNCS) per 100.000 inhab. And meteorological data: relative humidity (Hr. %), precipitation (Pp. mm) and maximum, mean and minimum tem
perature (Tmax, Tmean and Tmin. ◦C) of each site sampled.  

Sites COVID-19 data Environmental data 

NCS rNCS Hr [%] PP [mm] Tmax [◦C] Tmean [◦C] Tmin [◦C] 

Tucumán (AR) 30.55 ± 43.92 
[143.8] 

5.57 ± 8.00 
[143.8] 

62.07 ± 15.27 
[24.6] 

0.97 ± 5.31 
[544.86] 

26.31 ± 6.18 
[23.48] 

19.47 ± 5.55 
[28.49] 

12.63 ± 5.94 
[47.02] 

Resistencia (AR) 20.00 ± 12.59 
[62.94] 

5.12 ± 3.22 
[62.94] 

64.07 ± 13.89 
[21.68] 

1.68 ± 6.86 
[408.09] 

28.71 ± 6.84 
[23.83] 

21.25 ± 6.18 
[29.09] 

13.8 ± 6.38 
[46.23] 

Rosario (AR) 159.74 ± 221.11 
[138.42] 

13.33 ± 18.45 
[138.42] 

63.98 ± 14.8 
[23.13] 

1.68 ± 8.37 
[496.64] 

23.56 ± 6.18 
[26.23] 

16.61 ± 5.8 
[34.93] 

9.65 ± 6.39 
[66.23] 

Buenos Aires (AR) 344.93 ± 264.7 
[76.74] 

11.93 ± 9.16 
[76.74] 

68.36 ± 12.77 
[18.68] 

2.38 ± 8.45 
[355.01] 

21.28 ± 5.3 
[24.89] 

16.73 ± 5.06 
[30.24] 

12.19 ± 5.25 
[43.11] 

Ushuaia (AR) 14.16 ± 23.5 
[165.97] 

24.87 ± 41.27 
[165.97] 

72.98 ± 10.76 
[14.74] 

1.04 ± 2.17 
[208.28] 

7.8 ± 8.06 
[103.31] 

5.54 ± 3.91 
[70.59] 

2.88 ± 3.29 
[114.24]         

Arica y Parinacota 
(CH) 

27.81 ± 26.47 
[95.17] 

12.3 ± 11.71 
[95.17] 

70.51 ± 3.93 
[5.58] 

0.0 ± 0.0 [-] 20.87 ± 2.79 
[13.39] 

18.25 ± 2.46 
[13.5] 

16.59 ± 2.36 
[14.2] 

Metropolitana (CH) 840.88 ± 1145.91 
[136.27] 

11.82 ± 16.11 
[136.27] 

67.87 ± 13.55 
[19.96] 

0.69 ± 4.03 
[585.55] 

22.29 ± 6.18 
[27.74] 

13.07 ± 4.44 
[33.97] 

6.76 ± 3.52 
[51.99] 

Bíobío (CH) 105.04 ± 72.75 
[69.26] 

6.75 ± 4.67 
[69.26] 

81.71 ± 10.31 
[12.62] 

2.88 ± 7.4 
[256.54] 

16.65 ± 3.48 
[20.88] 

11.59 ± 2.78 
[24.03] 

7.76 ± 3.39 
[43.66] 

Magallanes (CH) 38.97 ± 48.17 
[123.58] 

23.4 ± 28.92 
[123.58] 

76.57 ± 10.64 
[13.89] 

0.83 ± 1.79 
[214.7] 

8.02 ± 3.97 
[49.44] 

5.05 ± 4.07 
[80.47] 

2.18 ± 4.09 
[187.35]         

Barranquilla (CO) 157.1 ± 174.28 
[110.93] 

12.33 ± 13.68 
[110.93] 

93.97 ± 5.23 
[5.56] 

1.68 ± 10.16 
[603.23] 

32.8 ± 1.49 
[4.54] 

27.98 ± 0.98 
[3.5] 

25.17 ± 1.03 
[4.1] 

Medellin (CO) 442.18 ± 404.89 
[91.57] 

17.45 ± 15.98 
[91.57] 

69.37 ± 7.55 
[10.89] 

0.85 ± 2.38 
[280.93] 

22.89 ± 1.48 
[6.49] 

22.1 ± 1.43 
[6.45] 

21.52 ± 1.38 
[6.42] 

Bogota (CO) 8.95 ± 18.7 
[208.85] 

18.00 ± 37.59 
[208.85] 

88.58 ± 5.24 
[5.92] 

2.47 ± 5.21 
[210.78] 

15.02 ± 0.84 
[5.61] 

14.4 ± 0.84 
[5.83] 

13.8 ± 0.83 
[6.04] 

Cali (CO) 873.92 ± 751.6 
[86] 

11.29 ± 9.71 
[86] 

sd 1.93 ± 4.74 
[245.52] 

24.52 ± 1.14 
[4.67] 

23.8 ± 1.09 
[4.59] 

23.15 ± 1.06 
[4.59] 

Leticia (CO) 299.28 ± 213.04 
[71.19] 

13.29 ± 9.46 
[71.19] 

87.62 ± 5.2 
[5.94] 

5.41 ± 11.68 
[215.81] 

26.92 ± 1.47 
[5.45] 

26.37 ± 1.41 
[5.35] 

25.74 ± 1.32 
[5.12]  
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climate code: ET), characterised by sub-freezing mean annual temperatures, large annual temperature ranges, and moderately low 
precipitation [45]. 

During the sampled period, a sustained increase in Tmean with an anomaly of 76% was observed throughout Chile (Fig. 2a). The Pp 
in Metropolitana was ~50.9 mm; however, in the north of the country (Arica y Parinacota), the Pp was around 0.8 mm (Table 3, 
Fig. 2a–b). Biobío had an average rainfall deficit of <38%, whereas in South Patagonia, the deficit reached 9% in Magallanes. In 
summary, the sampled period was the 2nd warmest year in 60 years, being 0.84 ◦C warmer than the 1961–1990 climatological average 
and 0.6 ◦C warmer than the 1981–2010 average. In Arica y Parinacota it was the 2nd rainiest year in 60 years with 7.8 mm of rainfall 
accumulated. In Metropolitana, the fall and spring were driest in the last 60 years and winter (June) the rainiest since 2005, accu
mulating 110.1 mm like Biobio (Table 3), which accumulated 344.8 mm. In winter a moderate to light drought remained, as was the 
case with the Magallanes (Fig. 2a). Finally, in this region rains were registered only in spring, where it rained up to 66.6 mm and it was 
the rainiest season since 2008. 

The variance was analysed using the coefficient of variation (CV) (Table 3). The low dispersion in temperatures for the Colombia 
sites did not exceed 6%. Magallanes and Ushuaia, which correspond to the southernmost localities, had the greatest dispersions in Tmax, 

Fig. 2. Relation of climatological variables and COVID-19 cases. a) Temperature (◦C, max, mean and min, dash line) and maximum precipitation 
(mm, blue bars). b) Relative humidity (%, max, mean and min, dash line) and mean precipitation (mm, sky blue bars). c) New cases with symptoms 
(NCS, black bars) and rate of new cases with symptoms per inhabitants (rNCS, dash-dotted line). (For interpretation of the references to colour in 
this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.) 
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Tmin, and Tmean, with CV > 110% and >70%, respectively (Table 3). In Metropolitana site, Concepción, Tucumán, Resistencia, Rosario, 
and Buenos Aires were typical of the seasonal pattern. The Tmin, Tmean, and CV values were between 43%–68% and 24%–35% for the 
sites in Argentina and Chile, respectively. Exceptions were Arica y Parinacota, which have low dispersions, with CV for temperatures of 
13 %–15%, located in a region of dry climate during most of the year. In the case of daily Pp, for all sites, there was a prevalence of 
absence of rain, so the variance is expected to be high, given by the extreme values. As for the Hr, the CV showed that the Colombian 
sites, the Chilean sites Arica y Parinacota, BioBio, and Magallanes have values <14%, characteristic of their relatively uniform climatic 
conditions during the year (Table 3). The other group corresponded to Buenos Aires, Metropolitana, Resistencia, and Ushuaia, which 
showed variations between 17% and 27%. Finally, those with variations greater than 36% were Tucumán and Rosario. 

3.2. Peaks of COVID-19 cases and the climatic conditions associated 

The new cases with symptoms (NCS) were the cases were highest in the capitals of the selected countries (Fig. 2c) which is related to 
the socio-demographic characteristics (Table 5). However, the rate of new cases with symptoms per inhabitants (rNCS), seem to have a 
different distribution (Fig. 2c, dotted line). 

Firstly, the evolution of 7rNCSma was analysed focusing on their peaks (Fig. 3). In the case of Argentina, an early evolution of cases 
was noticed in Buenos Aires, finding three considerable 7rNCSma peaks between the end of July and the end of August (they are 
softened in Fig. 3 due to the scale used), when temperature and Pp were minimal, due to the winter season. Coincidentally, 2020 was 
the year in which the average was lower (1981–2010). The maximum rate registered was 33 cases × 105 inhab. Likewise, late peaks 
were detected for Rosario, Tucumán, and Resistencia in late September and early October, with a maximum rate of 67 cases, 35 cases, 
and 17 cases × 105 inhab., respectively. In these months, an increase in temperature and rainfall is expected. Particularly, in Tucumán 
and Resistencia, the temperature was higher than the mean and the Pp was lower. On the other hand, in Rosario, both variables were 
higher than the mean. 

Moreover, Ushuaia recorded its maximum peak (124 cases × 105 inhab.) at the beginning of November (Fig. 3), when temperatures 
were on the rise (and were higher than the 1981–2010 mean) and rains showed a marked decline (Pp was lower than the mean in 
November). 

According to Chile, the first peak was reached in June in the Metropolitan Region, with a rate of 74 cases per 1 × 105 inhab., 
followed by Arica y Parinacota for the month of July, with 53 cases per 1 × 105 inhab. Magallanes displayed the highest value of the 
period with a rate of 104 cases per 1 × 105 inhab. in the month of October., and finally, In the case of Biobío, values did not show a 
sharp increase with an evident peak (Fig. 3). 

When Colombia is considered, the first peak was reached in the first week of May in Leticia with a maximum rate of 140 cases ×
105 inhab., which is a particularly humid city that encounters rains throughout the year and the temperature does not have much 
variation. An increase in cases was observed from the second week of April, reaching the highest in the first week of May and then 

Fig. 3. 7-Day moving average rates of confirmed cases per 1 × 105 inhab. (7rNCSma) by date of onset of symptoms (Argentina and Colombia) and 
by date of confirmation (Chile) for the sites analysed from March to November 2020. Colour lines represent a site for each country. (For inter
pretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.) 
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declining (Fig. 3). There was a surge again in the middle of the month, maintaining high reports of cases until the second week of June. 
After a considerable drop in the report was observed, reported cases remained low until the first week of November when a new peak 
was observed which was well below the first peak. The second peak occurred in Barranquilla with an increase in cases in mid-June and 
was maintained until early July during a dry season. The third peak was seen in Bogotá at the end of July and was consistent until the 
beginning of August, periods of low temperature. In Cali, cases escalated in the third week of June until the beginning of August and 
remained almost constant, rising slightly again in late November. The next peak was evident in Medellín around mid-July. Later, in 
October, cases surged again in the first week of the month with a brief decrease in the second week, which increased again in the third 
week of the month and was maintained almost until the end of the month (Fig. 3). 

3.3. Link between climatic variables and COVID-19 

Spearman correlations calculated between cases: rNCS, 7rNCSma, 14rNCSma, 7rNCSL and 14rNCSL and the meteorological var
iables per site are summarised in Table 4 (Table Supp 2) at both 5 and 1% level of significance and they vary according to the place and 
the variable studied. In Argentina, correlations between meteorological variables for rNCS by dates of onset of symptoms, moving 
averages, and lags were indirect and significant between COVID-19 cases and Hr (ρ − 0.56 to − 0.63) in Tucumán. A greater correlation 
stood out for rates by dates of onset of symptoms and with 14rNCSL. Correlations with all temperatures were direct (ρ 0.17–0.50) and 
significant (greater for the date of onset of symptoms and moving averages than for lags). Correlations between Tmin and the dates of 
onset of symptoms and lags were not significant. In Resistencia, correlations with Hr were indirect and significant for rates by dates of 
onset of symptoms, 14rNCSma and 14rNCSL (ρ − 0.13 to − 0.2). Indirect and significant correlations were also found between all 
Temperatures with lags and dates of onset of symptoms (ρ − 0.15 to − 0.29). The highest correlations were presented with both lags for 
the three variables. In Rosario, Hr presented indirect and significant correlations (ρ − 0.39 to − 0.46). In addition, direct and significant 
correlations were found for Tmax with the moving averages (ρ 0.13–0.28) and for the Tmean with 14rNCSma (ρ = 0.22). Correlation with 
Hr was not significant in Buenos Aires. All Temperatures were indirect and significant (ρ − 0.56 to − 0.75), being the strongest for 
14rNCSL and registering the highest absolute values of ρ in comparison with other sites. In Ushuaia, as in the rest of the Argentine sites 
analysed except Buenos Aires, Hr was indirectly and significantly correlated (ρ − 0.28 to − 0.38). Similarly, as in Tucumán and Rosario, 
direct and significant correlations were observed with all Temperatures. These values were higher for Tmax and Tmean (ρ 0.29–0.47) 
than for Tmin (ρ 0.17–0.3). In summary, correlations between COVID-19 cases and Hr were indirect and significant at all sites (ρ − 0.13 
to − 0.63), except in Buenos Aires. Strongest correlations were obtained in Tucumán and next in Rosario. The correlations between the 
cases and all temperatures were direct and significant in Tucumán, Rosario, and Ushuaia (ρ between 0.13 and 0.50) being the most 
robust for Tmax with moving averages in Tucumán and Tmean with moving averages in Ushuaia, followed by Tucumán. In Resistencia 
and Buenos Aires these correlations were indirect and significant (ρ between − 0.15 and − 0.75), making Buenos Aires the strongest 
correlated of all sites. Correlations between COVID-19 cases and Pp were not significant at all sites and presented ρ < 0.1. 

In Chile, with a significance of 1%, there was a direct and significant correlation with Hr, but not with variables related to tem
perature for the case of Arica y Parinacota. These are inverse correlations with significant values close to − 1, regardless of whether the 
calculation was made with confirmation dates or with moving averages or lags, which highlighted that the highest correlation values 
were found with Tmax (ρ − 0.83 to − 0.85). In the Metropolitana site, there was also a direct and significant correlation with Hr. All 
temperatures presented inverse and significant values, but with values of ρ lower than those obtained for Arica y Parinacota, also 
identifying the highest values in Tmean with fluctuations of ρ between − 0.66 and − 0.81. Pp values were close to 0 and significant (ρ 
− 0.29 to − 0.34), given the low amount of rainfall at this site. In Biobío, the directionality of the correlation with Hr and all 

Table 4 
Values of Spearman’s correlation coefficient (ρ. rho) to the correlation between dependent variables: rates of confirmed COVID-19 cases (RCC) 
moving average 7-days and independent (meteorological data). Nd, non-data.  

Site %Hr PP Tmax Tmean Tmin 

Tucumán (AR) − 0.56** − 0.01 0.42** 0.33** 0.17** 
Resistencia (AR) − 0.17** − 0.05 − 0.09 − 0.07 − 0.04 
Rosario (AR) − 0.43** 0.04 0.2** 0.14* 0.06 
Buenos Aires (AR) − 0.07 − 0.07 − 0.61** − 0.63** − 0.59** 
Ushuaia (AR) − 0.36** − 0.03 0.42** 0.37** 0.24**       

Arica y Parinacota (CH) 0.33** nd − 0.85** − 0.83** − 0.67** 
Metropolitana (CH) 0.65** 0.33** − 0.71** − 0.81** − 0.67** 
Bíobío (CH) − 0.22** − 0.01 − 0.24** − 0.23** − 0.19** 
Magallanes (CH) − 0.35** − 0.12* 0.16* 0.22** 0.16**       

Barranquilla (CO) 0.33** 0.13* 0.22** 0.32** 0.14* 
Medellin (CO) 0.23** − 0.07 − 0.34** − 0.34** − 0.35** 
Bogota (CO) 0.12 0.07 − 0.39** − 0.41** − 0.42** 
Cali (CO) – − 0.09 − 0.19** − 0.22** − 0.23** 
Leticia (CO) 0.09 0.15* − 0.05 − 0.07 − 0.06  

* Significant 5%. 
** High significant 1%. 
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temperatures were inverted and significant and highest values were detected in Tmax with (ρ − 0.17 to − 0.36). Magallanes presented 
inverse and significant correlations for Hr and Pp, similar to Biobío (Table 4). However, temperatures did not present stable values 
when studied by confirmation dates, moving averages, or lagged, since although they presented positive correlation values, they were 
not significant in all measurements. 

In Colombia, correlations between meteorological variables for rates, moving averages, and lags were direct and the strongest in 
Barranquilla with Hr (ρ 0.28–0.36), Tmean (ρ 0.27–0.38), and Tmax (ρ 0.18–0.28). There was no significant correlation between Tmin and 
14rNCSma. Medellin had a direct correlation between Hr and rNCS, 7rNCSma and 14rNCSma (ρ 0.23–0.29). All temperatures followed 
the same correlation but inverse (ρ − 0.33 to − 0.38). In contrast to Barranquilla and Medellin, Hr in Bogotá showed significant cor
relations only for rNCS, 7rNCSL and 14rNCSL (ρ 0.16–0.2). The temperature was similar to that in Cali and Barranquilla, with an 
inverse relationship between the rate, moving averages, and lags with respect to all Temperatures (ρ − 0.35 to − 0.46). Cali showed a 
significant correlation between rNCS, moving averages, and lags with respect to all temperatures (ρ 0.14–0.31), while temperatures 
had an inverse correlation for all three cases. Leticia demonstrated an Hr with a positive correlation for 14rNCSL (ρ = 0.16). As for Pp, 
significant and direct correlations (ρ 0.10) were only observed for the 14rNCSma. There were no significant correlations with all 
temperatures for 14rNCSma by this site (Table 4). 

In summary, an indirect and significant correlation (p value <0.01) was found in Magallanes, as well as in most sites in Argentina 
(except Buenos Aires) between Hr and rNCS. With the same variables, a direct and significant correlation (p < 0.01) was found for 
Arica y Parinacota, Metropolitana, Barranquilla, and Medellín. Indirect and significant correlations (p < 0.05) found in BioBio, Buenos 
Aires, Bogotá, and Leticia were not significantly correlated. This variable was not analysed for Cali because the data were discarded 
due to errors. Pp presented significant (p < 0.01) and direct correlations in Metropolitana and inverse correlations in Magallanes. 
Correlations were significant (p < 0.05) and direct in Barranquilla and Leticia. Significant inverse correlations (p < 0.01) with all 
temperatures were obtained for all sites in Chile (except Magallanes), as well as for Medellín, Bogotá, and Cali in Colombia and Buenos 
Aires in Argentina. Inversely, direct and significant correlations (p < 0.01) were found in Tucumán and Ushuaia, only with Tmax in 
Rosario, and Tmax and Tmean in Barranquilla. Finally, the sites of Leticia and Resistencia were not significantly correlated. 

The CVs of the NCS and rNCS were the greatest for Leticia, followed by Ushuaia, Tucumán, Rosario, Metropolitana, Magallanes, and 
Barranquilla. This scattering behaviour was observed for smaller sites, which nevertheless had different climatic characteristics. Based 
on these results, an exploration of the link between NCS and rNCS and environmental variables at all sites was carried out using PCA 
(Fig. 4 a). PC1 explained that 45.6% of the total variability was defined as the thermal variability mainly associated with equatorial 
sites. Most of the sites were related to the hottest sites with temperatures above 23 ◦C and low CV. Magallanes and Ushuaia had similar 
but opposite behaviours to other sites. PC2 (22.6%) was defined as greater variability in precipitation and relative humidity that was 
associated with a higher rate of NCS. This was reflected in most of the sites in Argentina (with the exception of Ushuaia) and in the 
Central North of Chile (Metropolitana, Arica y Parinacota). 

3.4. Link between socioeconomic and demographic variables and COVID-19 

The maximum rNCS for the entire period (March to November) was registered in the three cities that were less populated (Ushuaia, 

Table 5 
Socio-demographic characterisation of study sites. Databases provided by different ministries: Argentina (INDEC). Chile (INE). Colombia (DANE). 
GINI index estimated to 2015 [48]. New cases with symptoms (NCS) and rate of new cases with symptoms per inhabitants rNCS.  

Sites COVID-19 data Population index* Socio-economic index 

NCS rNCS x 103 inh δ (inh km-2) Pop. (>60 years) 
(%) 

Monetary Poverty** 
(%) 

Masculinity Index* 
(%) 

Gini†

Tucumán (AR) 8461 1541.5 606 6.098.5 13.3 43.5 90.7 0.416 
Resistencia (AR) 5541 1417.6 443 112.0 10.7 53.6 93.2 ND 
Rosario (AR) 44247 3691.8 1291 5.571.0 16.6 38.3 91.9 0.400 
Buenos Aires (AR) 95545 3.305.9 3076 14.450.8 21.7 16.5 85.2 0.432 
Ushuaia (AR) 3923 6887.8 57 6.1 6.4 sd 104.7 nd 
Arica y Parinacota 

(CH) 
7593 3358.7 226 13.4 15.4 8.4 99.2 0.440 

Metropolitana (CH) 229561 3227.4 7.113 462 15.4 5.4 94.8 0.523 
Bíobío (CH) 28677 1842.0 1.557 65.0 16.8 12.3 93.1 0.465 
Magallanes (CH) 10640 6389.1 167 0.1 16.9 2.1 104.9 0.448 
Barranquilla (CO) 43203 3390.5 1.274 8274.0 25.7 25.6 92 0.462 
Medellin (CO) 121600 4799.8 2.533 5820.0 18.2 24.4 89.1 0.484 
Bogota (CO) 240329 3103.4 7.744 4907.0 25.3 27.9 91.9 0.513 
Cali (CO) 82301 3653.6 2.253 4382.0 30.4 21.9 87.5 0.465 
Leticia (CO) 2462 4950.0 50 7.8 5.6 sd 98.3 nd  

* Argentina: INDEC. population projection to 2020 based on the National Population. Household and Housing Census 2010; Chile: INE. Population 
and Housing census 2017; Colombia: DANE. National Population and Housing census 2018. 

** Argentina: INDEC. Permanent Survey of Households 2019; Chile: Ministry of Social Development. National Socioeconomic Characterization 
Survey (CASEN) 2017; Colombia: DANE. Monetary poverty and extreme monetary poverty technical annex 2019 

† Argentina: INDEC. Permanent Survey of Households 2019; Chile: Gini index estimated in 2015[48]. Colombia: DANE. Monetary poverty and 
extreme monetary poverty technical annex 2019. 
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24.9; Magallanes, 23.4; and Leticia, 18.0). In relation to population density, half of the sites have more than 1000 inhabitants per 
square kilometre (inhabs km− 2), of the remaining sites, two have densities between 100 and 1000 inhabitants km− 2 and five less than 
100 inhabs km− 2. The most densely populated site is Buenos Aires, which has more than 14,000 inhabs km− 2. The maximum rNCS was 
observed in the two cities with less population density (Ushuaia and Magallanes) (Table 5). 

The most and least populated sites under study were in Colombia (Bogotá and Leticia) with more than seven million and less than 
50,000 inhabitants, respectively (Table 5). Cali, Bogotá, Barranquilla and Buenos Aires had the highest percentages of people aged 60 
years or more with respect to age groups of urban population. Nine sites had less than 18% of the population aged 60 and over, while 
Ushuaia, the southernmost city, had 6%. The highest masculinity index (over 100%) occurred at two sites with the lowest density and 

Fig. 4. Principal component analysis that linking COVID-19 data (NCS and rNCS) and (a) meteorological variables (Relative humidity (Hr, %), 
Temperature (◦C), Precipitation (Pp, mm). (b) sociodemographic data (see variable description SD in Table 6) by sampled sites in each country 
(Argentina, Chile and Colombia). 

Table 6 
Values of Spearman’s correlation coefficient (ρ. rho) to the correlation between dependent variables. 
rates of confirmed COVID-19 cases (RCC). moving average 7-days. and independent sociodemo
graphic variables. SD. socio-demographic variables to principal component analysis. NCS: New cases 
with symptoms. rNCS: rate of new cases with symptoms  

Spearman rank NCS rNCS 

Pop (h) 0.956** − 0.401 
δ (h km− 2) (SD1) 0.511** − 0.363 
Pop. (>60 years) (%) (SD2) 0.659** 0.033 
Monetary Poverty (%) (SD3) − 0.291 − 0.589** 
Masculinity Index (%) (SD4) − 0.593** 0.324 
GINI (SD5) 0.717** − 0.017  

** high significant 1% 
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quantity of population—Magallanes (Chile) and Ushuaia (Argentina), while the lowest masculinity indices were in Buenos Aires 
(Argentina) with 85% and Cali 87% (Colombia). Eleven of the sites analysed had women preponderance (Table 5). 

Four sites had more than a quarter of their poor population, five with poverty levels between 10% and 25%, and four below 10%. 
The site with the lowest proportion of poverty was Magallanes (Chile), while the city with the highest proportion was Resistencia 
(Argentina), with more than half of its population poor (Table 5). 

Based on results obtained with socio-economic and demographic variables measured at the different sites studied an exploratory 
analysis was carried out to determine possible associations with the COVID-19 data of RCC (NCS and rNCS) using the Spearman 
correlation (Table 6). It was observed that rNCS had a significant negative correlation with monetary poverty, while NCS had sig
nificant positive correlations with the number of inhabitants (Pop h), population aged 60 years and older. (Pop. ⪖ 60 years, %), GINI 
index and negative with the masculinity index. This allowed us to observe that the greatest number of NCS was in sites with a larger 
population size, a higher percentage of adults over 60 years of age, a lower masculinity index, and a higher GINI value (Table 6). 

Sites with higher NCS, population, population aged 60 years and over, lower % of masculinity, and higher GINI, such as Bogotá, 
Cali, Medellin, Metropolitan, Buenos Aires, and Rosario have formed a group with a similar association between social variables and 
COVID-19. On the other hand, at the opposite extreme with lower NCS, population, population 60 years old and over, a higher % of 
masculinity, and lower GINI were Leticia, Arica y Parinacota, Tucumán, Resistencia, and Ushuaia. In the middle of these values were 
sites such as Barranquilla, Biobío, and Magallanes. 

Based on these results, relationships between the sites were explored using PCA (see Fig. 4b). In the first instance, all analyses that 
included the variable ‘population size’ concentrated all the variation in a single factor, not allowing a clear discrimination of sites. One 
of the results that showed a similar pattern to results obtained through correlations was the one that used all the variables except 
‘population size’ and in that case, population density was used. This PCA run yielded two axes that explained 69.9% of the observed 
variation. The PC1 with 40.4% was defined as ‘population status’ and explained that the rate of COVID-19 cases (rNCSC) increased in 
the population older than 60 years, in men, and in more populated places. This was reflected in sites such as Metropolitana, Buenos 
Aires, and most of the sites in Colombia, with the exception of Leticia. On the other hand, PC2 (29.5%) would explain that the greater 
the income inequality; the greater the poverty the greater the number of positive cases of COVID (NCS). 

3.5. Link between climatic, socioeconomic and demographic variables and COVID-19 

Non-metric multidimensional scaling with environmental fitting analysis showed a well-adjusted stress = 0.09 (Fig. 5). Except for 
precipitation, all meteorological variables showed significant relationships with NCS and rNCS and supported the PCA ordination with 
similar site groupings. Positions of sites sampled in the nMDS based on COVID-19 and socioeconomic and demographic data showed 
that, along the nMDS horizontal axis, the following were distributed following horizontal gradients of temperature: max, mean, and 
min. These three predictors had significant effects. Big site assemblages were distinct from those of the other sites sampled. The central- 
northeast of Argentina also clustered together and separated from the austral Patagonia sites (Magallanes and Ushuaia). Finally, a 
group that included two sites in Chile and another in Colombia showed an average behaviour. 

Fig. 5. Non-metric MultiDimensional Scaling ordination (nMDS) using the Bray-Curtis matrix of similarity of meteorological data, socio- 
demographic variables and COVID-19 (NCS and rNCS). Summary of all dimensions where some sites are most influenced by meteorological and 
others sociodemographic variables and/or a combination between them. 
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4. Discussion and conclusion 

4.1. Climatic variability forcing COVID-19 cases in South America 

The spread of the new COVID-19 virus was associated with latitude and longitude as geographic indicators in addition to seasonal 
dynamics [40,49,50]. It has also been confirmed that tropical countries have been marginally affected by the SARS CoV-2 virus and 
that a high transmission of COVID-19 has been observed in countries with cold-dry conditions in temperate climates [51]. Recent 
studies have also estimated that the low number of confirmed positive COVID-19 cases seen in tropical countries can be explained by 
their usual hot and humid environmental conditions [52]. In fact, they have also found that countries experiencing high absolute 
humidity above 10 gm-3 could see a slowdown in COVID-19 transmission in a short time. Other studies also confirmed that tem
perature and humidity were factors affecting the number of deaths from COVID-19 in Wuhan, China [53]. In Mexico, the regional onset 
of the pandemic occurred in tropical climate zones at average temperatures around 25.95 ◦C and average rainfall around 8.74 mm. 
However, in dry climates it arose earlier because of lower temperatures and higher rainfall (20.57 ◦C and 20.87 mm respectively) than 
those observed in tropical climates [54]. 

In particular, considering the simultaneous correlations, certain similarities and differences were perceived in the Bolaño-Ortiz 
et al. (2020) study [15]. They evaluated the spread of SARS-CoV-2 in ten Latin American and Caribbean cities during the first two 
months in 2020 (April–May), which coincides with our study in three capitals: Bogotá (Colombia), Santiago (Chile) (included in 
Metropolitana site), and Buenos Aires (Argentina). In the case of the Metropolitana site, both studies found negative and significant 
simultaneous correlations with temperatures and positive and significant correlations with Hr. We also found a significant correlation 
with Pp, similar to that in Bolaño-Ortiz et al. (2020) study [15]. 

Likewise, for Bogotá, results were in line with Hr and Pp, which were not significant. However, studies conducted in Brazil [55] 
found that higher Tmean and average Hr favoured the transmission of COVID-19, unlike reports from colder countries or periods of time 
under cold temperatures, which was when the highest number of COVID-19 cases were present. This was especially true for the cities of 
São Paulo and Rio de Janeiro, which are cities of great importance. São Paulo is the main economic destination for job seekers and 
investors, and Rio de Janeiro is the most important tourist destination in the country. An analysis of the evolution of COVID-19 
transmission cases in these sites deserves special attention due to their economic relevance as well as their population density; 
Tosepu et al. (2020) [56] have found that only temperature average (◦C) was significantly correlated with covid-19 pandemic in 
Jakarta. This correlation is in line with the correlation present in previous research showing the relationship between meteorological 
transmission and respiratory syncytial virus [57] and SARS [58]. Temperature is also an environmental factor in the COVID-19 
outbreak in China, and the regression equation shows how temperature, Hr, and wind speed affect the transmission of SARS [23]. 
Despite the weather, high COVID-19 cases in Jakarta are also caused by the extremely high mobility of people. As the capital city of 
Indonesia, Jakarta is the main economic destination for job seekers. The population density of Jakarta is also very high, which allows 
rapid transmission of COVID-19 [55,56]. Finally, for Buenos Aires our results agree with Bolaño-Ortiz et al. 2020 [15], who also had 
non-significant correlations with Hr. However, correlations between temperature and Pp differed. 

The first COVID-19 peaks were found in main sites where airports with the highest passenger traffic were located: in the case of 
Chile, Metropolitana, and in Argentina, Buenos Aires. Moreover, in Colombia, the first peak was observed in Leticia, although no 
significant correlations with climatic variables were found (except for Pp) for that site. This indicates that the increase in the rate of 
COVID-19 cases can be explained by other variables, such as social and environmental factors, whose influence can be related to the 
location of the site on the border with Brazil. In addition, in those sites that are close to the borders with other countries (Leticia, with 
Brazil and Arica y Parinacota with Peru), correlations found can be explained by the flow of people rather than by meteorological 
variables. Therefore, a significant correlation with temperature was observed in Arica y Parinacota, but not in Leticia. In addition, the 
three main sites (Buenos Aires, Bogotá, and Metropolitana) showed a higher (and negative) correlation with temperature compared to 
other meteorological variables. The sites in southern South America (Magallanes and Ushuaia) showed the opposite behaviour to Arica 
y Parinacota (northern Chile) in terms of correlations between the rate of COVID-19 cases and Hr and temperatures. Therefore, it is 
highly probable that high altitude reduces the infection rate of COVID-19 but not case-fatality, as was shown in our study [59–61]. 

Finally, it is worth noting that correlations found gave us an idea of the relationship between meteorological variables and the rate 
of COVID-19 cases; with a prevalence of the behaviour of simultaneous and previous values of temperature and relative humidity, 
however, they do not indicate causality. The current global climate change scenario puts researchers on alert about future pandemics 
and the need to stimulate multidisciplinary studies for the resilience of humanity, especially in regions where climate variability and 
socio-economic conditions play a significant role. 

4.2. Socioeconomic and demographic variability as a driving force of COVID-19 cases in South America 

Climatic, environmental, socio economic and demographic factors such as cultural factors, population density, and other factors 
can influence the transmission of the virus in Latin America and the Caribbean region [15,62]. Bolaño-Ortiz et al. (2020) [15] have 
studied the relationship between meteorological and social variables and COVID-19 morbidity and mortality, considering the GINI 
index estimated to 2015 [61], urban poverty rate, and urban extreme poverty rate to describe social inequity. Interestingly, they have 
suggested that income inequality and poverty levels are correlated with the spread of COVID-19. However, these studies should be 
conducted for a longer period of time and consider the lockdown status for each city. Buenos Aires and Bogotá applied a full lockdown, 
while Santiago had some areas under lockdown. 

In relation to the work of Bolaño-Ortiz et al. (2020) [15], in our case, the variable that showed significant correlations with the 
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socio-economic variables was NCS, not the NCS rate. Similarly, the GINI index had a positive correlation with NCS (0.71). We did not 
find significant correlations with the poverty index analysed, but with the percentage of adults aged 60 years and older and with the 
masculinity index, which were inconsistent with the findings of Bolaño-Ortiz et al. (2020) [15]. It was observed that the highest 
number of NCS was found in places with a larger population size, a higher percentage of adults aged 60 years and older, a lower 
masculinity index, and a higher GINI value. However, unlike the GINI index, for example, in similar studies in cities in France or Japan, 
the age structure of the population has not been found to have definitive significance in the number of cases observed [31]. On the 
other hand, studies on a global scale have found that total cases of COVID-19 are correlated with the percentage of adults over 65 years 
of age [63,64]. 

These results seem to indicate that, at least in our case, demographic variables were more significant factors in relation to COVID-19 
cases than socio-economic ones. The population density is the most significant factor that increases in contact between people, and 
therefore, the number of cases [65,66]. Our results support the hypothesis that epidemiological studies of COVID-19 have, to date, 
offered mixed results regarding the meteorological sensitivity of the virus and the disease. COVID-19 transmission dynamics in 2020 
appear to have been related to sociodemographic factors and controlled primarily by government interventions rather than meteo
rological factors. 

The interplay and interactions between the climatic, socio economic and demographic variables and COVID cases and rates are 
complex. We performed an exploratory analysis with some limitations of data access and methods. Future studies with longer data 
series and the inclusion of other determinants that influence the spread of the virus (i.e., public policies, health and economic mea
sures, and the response of the public health sector) will allow a better understanding of the role of climatic and non-climatic factors in 
the development of the COVID-19 epidemic in these latitudes. Due to the rapid evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, multidisciplinary 
approach is essential to address different aspects related to the social health determinants of COVID-19 morbidity in South America. 
We hope our findings will encourage new groups from different disciplines and sciences to jointly work in order to understand the 
current state of COVID-19 transmission in our region and its imminent evolution. 
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Sci. Data 5 (1) (2018), 180214, https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.214. 

[46] I.D.E.A.M. Atlas, Climatológico de Colombia, Imprenta Nacional de Colombia, Bogotá DC, 2017. Available in: http://documentacion.ideam.gov.co/openbiblio/ 
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